THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
In a Contested Case Hearing

The Honorable S Phillip Lenski  
Administrative Law Court Judge

---

Docket No. 11-ALJ-17-0603-CC  
Appellant Case No. 2016-000201

---

**RECEIVED**

APR 07 2016

**SC Court of Appeals**

Alltel Communications, Inc. (and Affiliates) ..... Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, ..... Appellant.

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Milton G. Kimpson (Bar No. 7917)  
General Counsel for Litigation  
Mary Elizabeth Campbell (Bar No.  
Counsel for Litigation  
Nicole M. Wooten (Bar No. 73594)  
Counsel for Litigation  
PO Box 12265

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE PROCEEDS FROM THE INCIDENTAL COVERAGE PLANS ARE NOT INCLUDED IN THE TAXPAYER'S GROSS PROCEEDS OF SALES ACCRUING FROM THE SALE OF TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY?**
- II. WHETHER CERTAIN OF THE ALC'S FINDINGS PERTAINING TO THE TAXPAYER'S RECEIPT AND RETENTION OF FEES FOR INSURANCE PREMIUMS ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS IN VIEW OF THE RELIABLE, PROBATIVE, AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE?

Alltel Communications, Inc. (Taxpayer) is in the business of selling wireless communications services and mobile telephone equipment with retail locations in South Carolina. In conjunction with its business of providing wireless communications and telephone equipment, Taxpayer also provides its subscribers with the following optional coverage plans: (1) ProductGuard; (2) PlatinumGuard; (3) ProductGuard Plus; (4) PlatinumGuard Plus and (5) extended warranty (collectively "Coverage Plans").<sup>1</sup> The South Carolina Department of Revenue (Department) conducted an audit examination of Taxpayer's sales tax returns for the periods from May 1, 2005 through April 30, 2008 (Audit Period). As will be explained, the Department determined that there were deficiencies in the Taxpayer's reporting and remission of sales taxes on its proceeds from Coverage Plans. The Department thereafter issued a Proposed Notice of Assessment to the Taxpayer. The Taxpayer

---

<sup>1</sup>While the term "Coverage Plans" will continue to be used, prior to the hearing in this matter, the Taxpayer submitted an Offer of Judgement admitting that sales taxes were owed on the extended warranty product so that the instant dispute concerns only (1) ProductGuard; (2) PlatinumGuard; (3) ProductGuard Plus, and (4) PlatinumGuard Plus coverages.

timely protested the proposed assessment and the Department issued its final Department Determination. The Taxpayer thereafter requested a contested case hearing at the Administrative Law Court (ALC). After a hearing on the parties' cross motions for Summary Judgment, the ALC found in favor of the Taxpayer on the disputed issues. The Department thereafter filed a Motion for Reconsideration which the ALC denied on January 5, 2016. The Department filed its Notice of Appeal with this Court on February 2, 2016.

In an appeal from the decision of an administrative agency, the Administrative Procedures Act provides the appropriate standard of review. Olson v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 379 S.C. 57, 63, 663 S.E.2d 497, 500-501 (Ct. App. 2008); Turner v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 377 S.C. 540, 544, 661 S.E.2d 118, 120 (Ct. App. 2008); Clark v. Aiken County Gov't, 366 S.C. 102, 107, 620 S.E.2d 99, 101 (Ct. App. 2005). S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) (Supp. 2013) provides the applicable standard:

(B) The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the Appellant has been prejudiced because of the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse

of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Additionally, the standard for review in summary judgment cases is pertinent:

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005)

(internal citation omitted).

Resolution of the issues in this case depends upon the rules of statutory construction and when construing a statute, the cardinal rule is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature. Georgia-Carolina Bail Bonds, Inc. v. County of Aiken, 354 S.C. 18, 22, 579 S.E.2d 334, 336 (Ct. App. 2003). “All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute.” Id. at 23, 579 S.E.2d at 336. The words of the statute “must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resort[ing] to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand [the statute's] operation.” Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992) (internal citations omitted). Finally, “[t]he construction of a statute by the agency charged with its administration will be accorded the most respectful consideration and will not be overruled absent compelling reasons.” Brown v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 515, 560 S.E.2d 410, 414 (2002) (quoting Dunton v. S.C. Bd. of Examin'rs in Optometry, 291 S.C. 221, 223, 353 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1987)); see also Nucor Steel v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 310 S.C. 539,

543, 426 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1992) (recognizing that where an agency is charged with the execution of a statute, the agency's interpretation should not be overruled without cogent reason).

Here, the Department submits that the ALC's decision is in violation of pertinent statutory provisions and/or affected by other errors of law and further, certain findings are clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

During the Audit Period, the Taxpayer's subscribers could also add Coverage Plans to protect the telephone equipment they purchased from the Taxpayer. (R., p. \_\_\_\_; Capehart Affidavit, para. 5). Only the Taxpayer's subscribers could purchase the Coverage Plans. Id. Determining the cost of the Coverage Plans depends upon the cost of the telephone equipment purchased. When a subscriber opted for the coverage, the Taxpayer included the charges for the Coverage Plan in the subscribers' regular monthly service statement. Id. at para. 6. The subscriber paid the cost of its communications service and Coverage Plan fee as one lump sum. Id. (R., p. \_\_\_\_; Exhibit B). The Taxpayer then remitted the Coverage Plan fees, less an undisclosed commission, to a third party.<sup>2</sup> To this end, Taxpayer partnered with third parties regarding certain

---

<sup>2</sup>The Coverage Plan product brochures contained the following language:

Product Guard Plus and Platinum Guard Plus: How much does this cost? A low monthly fee based on your wireless device will be added to the cost of your wireless phone bill. No separate invoices or checks to write. This fee includes the cost of your insurance premium payable to the Old Republic Insurance Company and administration fees payable to Asurion Insurance Service, Inc., and Alltel.

aspects of the Coverage Plans, including the underwriting of the plans and the servicing of claims submitted under the plans. Upon receiving the telephone equipment from Taxpayer, the subscribers could either contemporaneously or subsequently add the Coverage Plans to their wireless communications service purchased from the Taxpayer, provided certain requirements were met. (R.,p. \_\_\_; Capehart Affidavit., Exhibit A). The Coverage Plan fees varied depending upon the type of equipment covered, and the terms of the Coverage Plans. Id. These Coverage Plans provided the Taxpayer's subscribers with protection against loss, theft, accidental damage, and malfunction depending on the level of coverage. Id. Despite the fact that the Taxpayer's subscribers paid for the Coverage Plans as part of their monthly bills, the Taxpayer excluded the sales proceeds from the Coverage Plans from its gross proceeds of sales as reported to the Department. Therefore, the Taxpayer failed to pay sales tax on such amounts during the Audit Period. The Department concluded that the proceeds from the Coverage Plans were subject to sales tax, and the Department issued the Taxpayer Notices of Proposed Assessment on September 29, 2009. (R., p. \_\_\_; ALC Order, p. 3 )

By letter dated November 29, 2009, Taxpayer protested the proposed assessments

---

(R., p. \_\_\_; Capehart Affidavit, Exhibit A.; See also, R., p. \_\_\_; Tr., 20, lines 14-23). Though the Taxpayer has argued at times that it remits all of the proceeds received for Coverage Plans to a third party, the customer brochure explaining the Coverage Plan indicates otherwise. Furthermore, the exhibits to the Affidavit of Michael K. Ain, indicate that during the time Hanover was the insurance carrier, the customer was charged \$4.00 for coverage, but the actual premium paid to the insurance company was \$3.16 per month; for a customer who paid \$6.00 for insurance, the premium was listed as \$5.16 per month. (Ain Affidavit, Exhibit A, p. 3) This same level of detail is absent in the information from Old Republic where the premiums are reported as being the same amounts the Taxpayer collected from its customers. (R., p. \_\_\_; Ain affidavit, Exhibit B, p. 3). As will be explained below, the evidence suggests, despite the ALC's findings, the Taxpayer retains at least part of the proceeds from the Coverage Plans.

claiming that the Coverage Plans were insurance policies not subject to sales tax because the underwriter of the plans is responsible for an insurance premium tax in the State of South Carolina. (R., p. \_\_\_\_; Capehart Affidavit, para. 7, Exhibit C). The Department issued a determination concluding that the proceeds from the Coverage Plans were subject to sales tax. (R., p. \_\_\_\_; ALC Order, pages 3-4) The Taxpayer requested a contested case hearing.<sup>3</sup> After a hearing on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment, the ALC determined that the Taxpayer's Coverage Plans were not subject to sales tax. (R., p. \_\_\_\_; ALC Order, page 27). In so holding, the ALC found the Coverage Plans: (1) constituted insurance sold to the Taxpayer's subscribers and (2) that the Coverage Plans were not tangible personal property. (R., pp. \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_\_; ALC Order, pages 7-9; 16-18).

### ARGUMENTS

**I. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE PROCEEDS FROM THE INCIDENTAL COVERAGE PLANS ARE NOT INCLUDED IN THE TAXPAYER'S GROSS PROCEEDS OF SALES ACCRUING FROM THE SALE OF TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY.**

**a. Sales Tax Is Imposed Upon The Retailer's Gross Proceeds Of Sale.**

A sales tax is imposed on the gross proceeds of sales of "every person engaged or continuing within this State in the business of selling tangible personal property at retail."

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-910(A) (2014) (emphasis added).<sup>4</sup> Therefore, if a person is in

---

<sup>3</sup>The Taxpayer's Offer of Judgment admitted its liability for sales taxes on its sales of enhanced warranty plans so that the issues during the contested case were limited to whether the Taxpayer's sales of the remaining Coverage Plans were subject to sales tax. (R., p. \_\_\_\_; ALC Order, p. 2).

<sup>4</sup>For sales tax purposes, "tangible personal property" is defined as:

the business of selling tangible personal property at retail, it follows that the gross proceeds of sales generated by the sale of such property is subject to the sales tax.<sup>5</sup> The Taxpayer is in the business of selling tangible personal property – wireless communications service and telephone equipment – to the public at retail and therefore, must remit sales taxes on its gross proceeds of sales. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-950 (2000).<sup>6</sup>

---

. . . personal property which may be seen, weighed, measured, felt, touched, or which is in any other manner perceptible to the senses. It also includes services and intangibles, including communications, laundry and related services, furnishing of accommodations and sales of electricity, the sale or use of which is subject to tax under this chapter and does not include stocks, notes, bonds, mortgages, or other evidences of debt.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-60 (2014) (emphasis added).

The term tangible personal property includes the sale or use of intangibles, including communications that are subject to South Carolina sales or use taxes under Chapter 36 of Title 12. Communications are therefore subject to sales taxes. See § 12-36-910(B)(3) ("gross proceeds accruing or proceeding from the charges for the ways or means for the transmission of the voice or messages" are subject to sales tax). In addition, "[i]t is presumed that all gross proceeds are subject to the tax until the contrary is established." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-950.

<sup>5</sup>For the purposes of sales tax, the term "person" includes "...any individual, firm, partnership, limited liability company, association, corporation, receiver, trustee, any group or combination acting as a unit, the State, any state agency, any instrumentality, authority, political subdivision, or municipality." S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-30. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-40 defines "taxpayer" as "any person liable for taxes under this chapter [Chapter 36]."

<sup>6</sup>The Department respectfully points out the General Assembly's use of the language "[tangible personal property] also includes services and intangibles, including communications, laundry and related services, furnishing of accommodations and sales of electricity, the sale or use of which is subject to tax under this chapter." The General Assembly's inclusion of services in the definition of tangible personal property bespeaks of a broader reach for "tangible personal property" than allowed by the ALC. Section 12-

In pertinent part, the term "gross proceeds of sales" is defined in S.C. Code Ann.

§ 12-36-90 as follows:

Gross proceeds of sales, or any similar term, means the value proceeding or accruing from the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property.

(1) The term includes:

\* \* \*

(b) the proceeds from the sale of tangible personal property without any deduction for:

(i) the cost of goods sold;

(ii) the cost of materials, labor, or service;

\* \* \*

(vii) any other expenses;

(Emphasis added).

Thus, the term "gross proceeds of sales" includes "the value proceeding or accruing from the sale ... of tangible personal property . . . without any deduction for . . . the cost of service ...or any other expenses[.]" Section 12-36-90(1)(b)(ii,vii). Section 12-36-90 provides that the tax base for sales tax purposes is the "value proceeding or accruing from" the sale of tangible personal property.

The ALC incorrectly interpreted the "value proceeding or accruing" language explicitly contained within the definition of gross proceeds of sales found in Section 12-36-90. In interpreting Section 12-36-90 the ALC created a limitation wherein that section only applies to expenses incurred by the taxpayer. In so holding the ALC stated that to include anything beyond expenses incurred by the taxpayer would "sanction the application of a sales tax in circumstances where it is far from clear that the sales tax

---

36-910(A) contains no limiting language for the inclusion of intangibles within the definition of tangible personal property except that the term cannot encompass "stocks, notes, bonds, mortgages, or other evidences of debt."

applies." Alltel Communications, supra. 22. The ALC's interpretation requires a complete disregard of the first line of Section 12-36-90. 12-36-90 explicitly states that gross proceeds "means the value proceeding or accruing from the sale" of tangible personal property. Subsection 1 then explicitly specifies some items that are included with gross proceeds. The ALC's interpretation transforms that list from being examples of what is included into an exclusive list whereby anything not on that list is not included. Moreover the ALC's interpretation disregards the "value proceeding or accruing" language that proceeds Subsection (b)(1). Instead the ALC's interpretation requires changing that language to read "[g]ross proceeds of sales or any similar term means the cost or expense incurred by the taxpayer from the sale, lease, or rental of tangible personal property. " Such interpretation is clearly not correct and constitutes an error of law.

The ALC's interpretation and the holding reached from that interpretation, fails to grasp the fundamental principles behind a sales tax based upon gross proceeds. A sales tax based upon the gross proceeds of sales is aimed at taxing the full amount of value associated with a given transaction. The "value proceeding or accruing" language is intentionally broad so as to include all aspects of a transaction regardless of title given to any specific part. Gross proceeds are not limited to just those items that constitute expenses to the taxpayer. To the contrary Section 12-36-90 delineates those items so that they cannot be excluded simply because they are expenses to the taxpayer and not necessarily amounts retained by the taxpayer. The Coverage Plans at issue here constitute value that proceeds or accrues as a result of the sale of tangible personal property. Pursuant to the explicit terms of Section 12-36-90 such value is included

within gross proceeds of sales and therefore subject to sales tax. The ALC's interpretation of Section 12-36-90 is incorrect and its holding based upon that incorrect interpretation constitutes an error of law.

b. The Taxpayer's Gross Proceeds Of Sales Accruing From Its Sales Of Wireless Communications Services And Telephone Equipment Includes Proceeds From The Coverage Plans.

The ALC believed the salient question in this case to be "whether the insurance coverage purchased by the Taxpayer's subscribers is 'tangible personal property' pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 12-36-60....". (R., p. \_\_\_; R., p. \_\_\_; ALC Order p. 6, 17). The Department respectfully submits that this is an incorrect inquiry. Instead, the proper question here is whether the cost of insurance is included within the Taxpayer's gross proceeds of sales. The Department submits that this question must be answered in the affirmative inasmuch as the definition of gross proceeds of sales includes the proceeds from the sale of tangible personal property without any deduction for the "cost of service ... or other expenses." Section 12-36-90 (1)(b)(ii, vii).

i. The Coverage Plans Provided By The Taxpayer Constituted A "Service Or Other Expense" Incidental To The Sale Of Tangible Personal Property That Cannot Be Deducted From The Taxpayer's Gross Proceeds Of Sales.

The Taxpayer is in the business of selling wireless communications services and telephone equipment. (R., p. \_\_\_; ALC Order, p. 2). It is undisputed that the Taxpayer's subscribers who opted to obtain the Coverage Plans at issue here paid the Taxpayer for such Plans. While the ALC makes reference to "[Taxpayer's subscribers being] required to pay a premium to Hannover or Old Republic" (R., p. \_\_\_; ALC Order, p. 7), subscribers made payments for Coverage Plans only to the Taxpayer. The record contained an example of the Taxpayer's bill sent to its subscribers. The charge for the

Coverage Plan fee, although a separate line item, is included within the total charge to the subscriber. (R., p. \_\_\_; Capehart Affidavit, Exhibit B). The subscriber makes one payment to the Taxpayer for all of the items purchased. Although the Taxpayer utilized a third party insurance carrier to complete the Coverage Plans, the fact remains that for the purposes of the sales transactions at issue – the sales between the Taxpayer and its customers - the subscriber purchased everything he or she received from the Taxpayer. The subscribers did not make any payment to, or purchase anything from, any third party insurance carrier. The Department submits that the contractual relationship between the Taxpayer and insurance carrier is of no legal significance for the purposes of this transaction, which is between the Taxpayer and its subscribers. In essence, the Taxpayer has done nothing more than subcontract the service offered to its subscriber to another provider. This contractor - subcontractor relationship cannot absolve the Taxpayer of its duty to remit sales taxes on the gross proceeds resulting from its retail sales.

In this instance, the value accruing from the sale of Taxpayer's wireless communications services and telephone equipment includes the charges collected for the Coverage Plans. Such proceeds are incidental to and enhance the value of the sale of the wireless communications services and telephone equipment. Without the sale of the wireless communications service and telephone equipment, the Taxpayer is unable to sell Coverage Plans. Furthermore, § 12-36-90 expressly states that the gross proceeds of sales must not be reduced by the cost of any service or any other expenses.<sup>7</sup> The

---

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