THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No.2016-000201
Docket No. 11-ALJ-17-0603-CC

RECEIVED
MAY 13 2016
SC Court of Appeals

Alltel Communications, Inc., Charleston/North Charleston MSA LP, Greenville MSA LP
d/b/a New York Newco, SC RSA 2 Cellular Partnership, SC RSA 3 Cellular Partnership,
SC RSA 4 Cellular Partnership, SC RSA 5 Cellular Partnership, SC RSA 6 Cellular
Partnership, SC RSA 7 Cellular Partnership, SC RSA 8 Cellular Partnership, and SC
RSA 9 Cellular Partnership,Respondents,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue,Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

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

However, the Alltel Entities believe it necessary to address two points arising from DOR’s current argument. As the ALC recognized, in view of R. 117-313.3, DOR has not uniformly applied the “but for” test it claims this Court established in *Meyers Arnold*. [R. at __, Final Order, pp.20-21.] Accordingly, the requirement of *Etiwan Fertilizer Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm’n*, 217 S.C. 354, 60 S.E.2d 682 (1950) that “a long-standing administrative policy” be “uniform” is not met. But in addition to a lack of

³⁸ This decision and this revenue ruling involve a fee charged by a personal property rental company and an automobile rental company, respectively, for property damage waivers which allowed the renter to use the property without concern over liability for damage to the property. Neither, however, pertains to “sales of taxable communications services” as DOR suggests. Accordingly, neither pronouncement supports the specific legislative acquiescence that DOR suggests has occurred.

uniformity in its application of this putative policy, DOR has actually reversed its position on the application of sales tax to charges collected by a retailer for “insurance or insurance like items.” Specifically, in S.C. Revenue Ruling No. 14-6 (2014 WL 5529252), DOR concluded that where a retailer of accommodations collects a charge for “optional hurricane insurance,” that charge is not subject to sales tax under §12-36-920. In so ruling, DOR stated that RR. #14-6 “[s]upersedes: SC Revenue Ruling #05-06 **and all previous advisory opinions** and any oral directives **in conflict herewith.**” See 2014 WL 5529252 (emphasis supplied).³⁹

The effect of RR #14-6 -- which DOR fails to mention in its brief -- cannot be understated. By issuing this ruling, DOR has not only indicated that it will interpret the sales tax statute in some circumstances to impose sales tax on insurance and not in others (thereby destroying any semblance of the uniformity required by *Etiwan, supra*), but has also withdrawn any prior rulings issued which may be in conflict. This would include both SD-174 and RR#93-1 relied upon in DOR’s brief. This Court should therefore not only ignore DOR’s argument in this regard, it should consider all of DOR’s arguments through the prism that RR#14-6 provides, which is that whether “the value proceeding or accruing from the sale, lease or rental of tangible personal property” includes revenue derived from intangible property that is not subject to tax under Chapter 36 of Title 12 is merely a matter of whim and caprice on the part of DOR. Under these circumstances, it certainly cannot be said that the Alltel Entities are clearly subject to tax with respect to amounts collected for insurance on the Devices. Rather, substantial doubt exists in that

³⁹ DOR acknowledged below that the insurance coverage on Devices was optional [R. at __, Final Order, p.22.]

regard and the Alltel Entities are entitled to receive the benefit of that doubt and have the ALC's order affirmed. *Alltel Commc'ns, supra*.

B. The ALC's Alternative Ruling that the Alltel Entities Were Entitled to Prevail as a Matter of Law is the Law of the Case and Must Therefore Be Affirmed.

As discussed above, DOR's arguments leave no doubt that it is engaged in an impermissible extra-legislative effort to amend §§12-36-60, 12-36-90, and 12-36-910 so as to include within their operation intangible property that is not now subject to sales tax under the plain meaning of the statute. *See* discussion at 41-43, *supra*. The ALC found in three separate instances involving three separate sections of the sales tax statute⁴⁰ that the arguments advanced by DOR necessarily constituted an acknowledgment by DOR that the statute is ambiguous, that such ambiguities must be construed in favor of the Alltel Entities under *Alltel Commc'ns, supra*, and that the Alltel Entities were therefore entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law on this alternative ground. Although DOR sought reconsideration of the ALC's conclusion that DOR's reading of §12-36-90(1)(b) (based upon DOR's interpretation of the holding in *Meyers Arnold*) created an ambiguity [R. at __, Mot. for Recons., p.9, n.5], it did not seek reconsideration of the ALC's alternative conclusion that DOR's reading of §12-36-60 and §12-36-910 necessarily rendered these sections ambiguous.

⁴⁰ *See* [R. at __, Final Order, p.19] ("to accept the Department's argument that the statute requires that any amounts of revenue collected by a retailer at the same time it receives revenue from the sale of tangible personal property, the court would be required to read language into the statute that is absent. This violates the plain meaning rule. *See Alltel Communications, Inc., supra*. Additionally, acceptance of DOR's argument would require the court to read out of [§12-36-60] language that limits the application of sales tax to 'services and intangibles ... the sale ... of which is subject to tax' under Chapter 36 of Title 12. This, too, violates the plain meaning rule. *Id.* Even if this court were to agree with DOR on this point, however, DOR would not prevail because the statute would then be rendered ambiguous and therefore inapplicable to Alltel.) *See, also*, [R. at __, Final Order, p.20] (ALC concluding that DOR argument that ALC should defer to agency's long-standing application of §12-36-910 to include revenue from sale of intangible property "incidental to purchase of communications service" gives rise to ambiguity entitling the Alltel Entities to prevail) and [R. at __, Final Order, pp.22, 25] (ALC concluding that DOR argument that §12-36-90(1)(b) should be read, pursuant to *Meyers Arnold*, as precluding a deduction of revenue – as opposed to deduction of cost or expense – sanctions application of sales tax to a retailer "in circumstances where it is far from clear that the sales tax applies" thereby implicating *Alltel Commc'ns, supra*).

DOR has not, however, presented any issue on appeal to this Court with respect to the ALC's alternative conclusions that the Alltel Entities were also entitled to prevail as a matter of law under *Alltel Commc'ns, supra*, as its statement of issues on appeal (Init. Br. of App., p.1) fails to set forth any point in this regard. *See* Rule 209(b)(1)(B), SCACR ([“o]rdinarily, no point will be considered on appeal which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal”). This Court may consider an issue not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal “if it is *reasonably clear* from an appellant’s arguments.” *See Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642-3 (2011) (emphasis in original). However, in order to meet the reasonable clarity requirement of *Herron*, the “ground of appeal ought to be so distinctly stated that the reviewing court may at once see the point which it is called upon to decide without having to ‘grope in the dark’ to ascertain the precise point at issue.” *Id.*, 719 S.E.2d at 64. DOR does state in a footnote “that its interpretation of §12-36-90 does not create any ambiguity as proscribed under *Alltel v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*” (i.e., *Alltel Commc'ns, supra*). Init. Br. of App., p.15, n.9. It does not, however, mention the ALC's other two alternative conclusions that DOR's interpretations of §§12-36-60 and 12-36-910 necessarily recognize an ambiguity in the statute. It is therefore not “reasonably clear” that DOR is seeking this Court's review of the ALC's alternative conclusions, and certainly not all three of them. *Cf.* n. 40, *supra*. Accordingly, deviation from the general rule set out in Rule 209(b)(1) is not warranted under *Herron, supra*. However, even if this Court were to conclude that an issue for review has been presented with respect to all three of the ALC's alternative conclusions based on *Alltel Commc'ns, supra*, DOR has abandoned the point on appeal because its “argument” is presented in a short, conclusory manner without supporting authority. *See Jinks v. Richland County*, 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d

281 (2003), cited in Jean Hoefler Toal, et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, (3rd Ed.) 208, 432 (2016). And, because the issue is not preserved on appeal, the ALC's ruling becomes the law of the case and requires that its grant of partial summary judgment to the Alltel Entities be affirmed. See *Biales v. Young*, *Anderson v. Short*, *supra*.

Furthermore, even if DOR has raised an issue in this regard, the ALC correctly ruled in the alternative that the statute was ambiguous to the extent it can be read to subject the amounts collected by the Alltel Entities for insurance on Devices. A statute is ambiguous if it "lends itself to two equally logical interpretations." See *Kennedy v. South Carolina Retirement Sys.*, 345 S.C. 339, 348, 549 S.E.2d 243, 247 (2001). At a minimum, one logical interpretation of the statute is that only intangibles specifically subjected to sales tax under Chapter 36 of Title 12 are included within the definition of tangible personal property under §12-36-60 and that revenue from the sale of intangibles not within that definition do not constitute gross proceeds of sale under §12-36-90 which are subject to sales tax under §12-36-910. If nothing else, DOR's regulation (R.117-313.3) and advisory opinion (RR #14-6) demonstrate that the Alltel Entities' interpretation has a basis in logic. Accordingly, the ALC's alternative conclusions should be affirmed under *Alltel Commc'ns* for this reason as well.

II. The Administrative Law Court did not err by making findings which are unsupported by reliable, substantial or probative evidence of record.

Notwithstanding its acknowledgment that the instant matter raises a question of law that renders its second issue on appeal "not ... legally significant," (Init. Br. of App.,

p.22), DOR attempts⁴¹ to present an argument that the ALC's order is based upon "conclusions" that "are clearly erroneous and not supported by substantial evidence." Init. Br. of App., p.22. In support of this argument, DOR asserts that "[t]he ALC found that the [Alltel Entities] pay[] all of the collected insurance premium over to the third party insurance carrier and do[] not retain any interest in said premium." *Id.* DOR acknowledges that "what was formally denominated as a 'premium' may have been paid over" but then asserts that "the [Alltel Entities] are most certainly retaining some portion of the overall proceeds received from its customer." *Id.* In support of this latter assertion, DOR cites to exhibits to the supporting affidavits submitted by the Alltel Entities below in support of this statement, *Id.*, pp.22-23. DOR concludes its argument on this point by referring to a colloquy between the ALC and counsel for the Alltel Entities in which the ALC asked if the retention of administration fees by the Alltel Entities created a disputed issue of material fact. *Id.*, pp.23-24.

⁴¹ The Alltel Entities submit that DOR's second issue on appeal is unpreserved because DOR did not raise it below. *Kiawah Resort Assocs. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, *supra*. Although it was addressed by the ALC in its colloquy with counsel at the motions hearing, that is insufficient to preserve the issue for appellate review. *See Gatewood v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections*, Op. 5389 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 9, 2016) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 10 at 39), citing *Mize v. Blue Ridge Ry. Co.*, 219 S.C. 119, 64 S.E.2d 253 (1951).

Even if it had been presented below, this issue has been abandoned on appeal because it is argued in conclusory terms without citation to supporting authority. *See South Carolina Appellate Practice, supra*, citing *Jinks v. Richland County, supra*, and *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P'ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 106 & n.3, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 & n.3 (Ct. App. 1993) ("[A]n issue is deemed abandoned on appeal and, therefore, not presented for review, if it is argued in a short, conclusory statement without supporting authority."). DOR asserts in its brief only that the ALC's conclusion regarding the remittance of insurance premiums to the insurance companies is not supported by substantial evidence because the Alltel Entities were entitled to receive a fee for administration. Init. Br. of App., p.22. DOR does not explain to this Court why the fact that administration fees were payable to the Alltel Entities and insurance agent bears on the ALC's conclusion regarding insurance premiums. This argument is insufficient to "include all that is necessary to enable the appellate court to decide whether the ruling complained of was erroneous." *Smith v. South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Svcs.*, 284 S.C. 469, 471, 327 S.E.2d 348, 349 (1985). In fact, it is essentially no more than a "mere expression of dissatisfaction with the ruling." *Al-Shabazz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 379, 527 S.E.2d 742, 755 (2000). Therefore, DOR should be deemed to have abandoned these issues on appeal. Even assuming that it has not been abandoned, the argument is without merit for the other reasons discussed *infra*.

As has previously been the case, DOR seeks to advance on appeal an argument that is unpreserved for review. Although the ALC asked whether a genuine issue of material fact was in dispute regarding the retention of administration fees payable to the Alltel Entities (which the exhibits to the affidavit supporting the Alltel Entities' motion and the response of its counsel to the ALC's question confirmed), the ALC concluded in its order that no genuine issue of material fact existed which would preclude a grant of summary judgment. [R. at __, Final Order, pp.6-12, 16.] In so ruling, the ALC analyzed each of the three grounds upon which DOR had asserted that a genuine issue of material fact in dispute existed, namely: (1) that the coverage for loss, theft, or damage with respect to a Device was not insurance but a service contract because (a) no indemnification was provided and (b) the deductibles were allegedly processing fees for a service contract [R. at __, Final Order, p.9-10], (2) that the Alltel Entities' customers did not pay a premium to the insurance companies [R. at __, Final Order, p.11], and (3) that the purchase of warranty coverage and insurance coverage were not separate transactions [R.at __, Final Order, p.11]. The ALC did not, however, address in its Final Order the question of whether a genuine issue of material fact was in dispute regarding the administration fees payable to the Alltel Entities and the insurance agent. Even assuming that the ALC's question on this point in the motions hearing sufficed to raise this as an issue below (which Alltel disputes), DOR has not preserved the issue for review in this court as it did not raise the ALC's failure to address it in its motion under Rules 29.D and 68, RPALC, and in accordance with Rule 59(e), SCRCP. [R. at __, DOR Mot. for Recons.] Having failed to do so, DOR has not preserved this issue and it may not be considered on appeal. *See Risher. v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control*, 393 S.C. 198, 712 S.E.2d 428 (2011).

Furthermore, because the interpretation of a statute is a matter of law (which DOR has conceded is the issue in this appeal), there is no need for any factual finding which could implicate the substantial evidence standard under S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-610(B)(e) to which DOR indirectly refers. Init. Br. Appellant, p.22. Here, because the ALC decided this matter on cross-motions for summary judgment, no finding of fact was necessary nor was any made. To the contrary, the ALC concluded that because no genuine issue of material fact was in dispute, no facts were required to be found. [R. ___, Final Order, p.5.]⁴² Instead, the ALC found that the facts established by the supporting affidavits were neither refuted by DOR nor subject to any reasonably drawn inferences that contradicted the Alltel Entities' factual assertions. [R. at ___, Final Order, pp.11-12.] DOR's attempt to invoke the substantial evidence standard of review in this appeal as a means of avoiding the effect of its failure to preserve an issue for appeal is therefore without merit.⁴³